MUR762900001

BEFORE THE

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Jan Barrow

Lakeland, FL 33813 =0

:}El- :;. )

Complainant, S 20 -7

I3 -~ =5

L i '{:,_\F

i MUR # '7@ (Q-o' 5 G

- o

Vincent Ross Spano ) = T
P.O. Box 423 2 f;‘j
Seffner, FL 33584 jom

Ross Spano for Congress and Robert Phillips, III, Treasurer, in his official capacity

P.O. Box 423
Seftner, FL 33584

Respondents.
COMPLAINT

In accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(1), this complaint alleges violations of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“FECA”) and Federal Election Commission (“FEC”
or “Commission™) regulations by U.S. Representative Vincent Ross Spano of Florida’s 15th
congressional district and his principal campaign committee, Ross Spano for Congress (the

“Committee™), and its treasurer, Robert Phillips, III, in his official capacity (collectively,

“Respondents”).
Public documents reveal that, shortly before the 2018 general election, Rep. Spano may

have funneled almost $180,000 in illegal campaign contributions from two close personal friends
to the Committee. In response to allegations about his actions, the Respondents sent a letter to FEC
Assistant General Counsel Jeff S. Jordan admitting they may have committed a violation of federal

law and regulations. According to the letter and Rep. Spano’s financial disclosure filing with the
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Clerk of the U.S. House of Representatives, Rep. Spano accepted “personal loans” from two
friends, Cary D. Carreno and Karen Hunt, totaling $180,000, most of which Rep. Spano then used
to loan “personal funds” to the Committee. This scheme appears to have allowed Spano to
circumvent federal contribution limits by having these friends make illegal excessive contributions
to the Committee disguised as a “personal loan” from himself to the Committee.

Despite admitting to a potential violation of federal law nearly eight months ago, the
Committee does not appear to have refunded Carreno and Hunt the excessive portions of their
contributions, as federal law requires it to do when a committee discovers it has accepted an illegal
contribution. Rep. Spano may have personally taken out a new bank loan to repay Carreno and
Hunt, but as of this writing, the Committee has not refunded either donor nor has it filed any
paperwork properly disclosing a loan by Rep. Spano from a bank to repay these donors. Given
these serious and ongoing violations, the Complainant urges the FEC to immediately investigate
these allegations and levy appropriate sanctions against the Respondents.

L FACTS

Vincent Ross Spano currently represents Florida’s 15th congressional district in the U.S.
House of Representatives, serving since January 2019.! Rep. Spano has been a barred attorney in
the State of Florida for nearly 21 years.2 The Committee is his principal campaign committee.’

Cary D. Carreno is the President of the Tampa, Florida-based corporation Alternative
Energy Applications Inc.* Politico has described Carreno as “a friend of Spano since sixth grade,

a onetime legal client of Spano’s, a longtime Spano contributor and a donor to a super PAC helping

! Vincent Ross Spano, FEC Form 2, Statement of Candidacy (Feb. 7, 2019), available at
http://docquery.fec.gov/pdf/936/201902079145475936/201902079145475936.pdf.

2 See Fla. Bar, Member Profile — Vincent Ross Spano, https://perma.cc/HME7-2R8A (last visited June 26, 2019).
3 Ross Spano for Congress, FEC Form 1, Statement of Organization (Feb. 6, 2019), available at
http://docquery.fec.gov/cgi-bin/forms/C00676668/1314585/.

4 See Alternative Energy Applications Inc., Why Choose Us? (indicating that Cary D. Carreno is the company’s
President), http://aeafl.com/why-us/ (last visited May 8, 2019).

.
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Spano.” A spokesperson for Rep. Spano referred to Carreno as “one of [Spano’s] oldest friends”
and a trusted personal advisor.® In May 2018, Carreno contributed $2,700 and $1,700 to Spano’s
campaign for the primary and general elections, respectively.’” Reports also describe Karen Hunt,
a retiree, as Rep. Spano’s “personal friend[].”® It also appears that Hunt contributed thousands of
dollars to Spano’s primary and general election campaigns in 2018.°

Rep. Spano filed his first financial disclosure report required of candidates for federal
office on November 3, 2018 (“2018 Financial Disclosure).!? In it, Spano indicated that he had
received a personal loan from Carreno and was liable to him for an amount between $15,001 and
$50,000.!! Spano also indicated that he received two personal loans from Hunt and was liable to
her for an amount between $15,001 and $50,000 for each loan.'? Further, in a November 30, 2018
letter to the FEC (“Letter”), an attorney representing the Respondents stated that Spano had
actually received four “personal loans” totaling $180,000 from Carreno and Hunt during the 2017-

18 federal election cycle, each carrying a five percent per annum interest rate: (1) a $35,000 loan

5 Marc Caputo, Campaign finance fraud accusations haunt Spano, congressional office, Politico (Dec. 10, 2018 7:15
AM), https://www.politico.com/states/florida/story/2018/12/10/campaign-finance-fraud-accusations-haunt-spano-
congressional-office-734974.

¢ See id. (in which Rep. Spano’s spokesperson Sandi Poreda stated, “Cary is one of Ross’s closest friends, and Ross
often asks for his opinion or him to weigh in on various matters”).

7 Fed. Election Comm’n, Individual contributions — Cary D. Carreno, https://www.fec.gov/data/receipts/individual-
contributions/?two_year transaction_period=2018&committee_id=C00676668&contributor_name=cary-+carreno&
min_date=01%2F01%2F2017&max_date=12%2F31%2F2018 (last visited May 10, 2019).

8 Emily Kopp, Newly Elected Congressman Says He May Have Broken Campaign Finance Law, Roll Call (Dec. 3,
2018 10:08 AM) (describing Hunt as a retiree), hitps://www.rollcall.com/news/politics/newly-elected-congressman-
says-may-broken-campaign-finance-law; William March, Ross Spano acknowledges possible ‘violation’ of
campaign finance law, Tampa Bay Times (Dec. 1, 2018) (describing Hunt as one of Rep. Spano’s personal friends),
https://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/buzz/2018/12/01/ross-spano-acknowledges-possible-violation-of-
campaign-finance-law/.

9 A retiree named Karen B. Hunt of Plant City, Florida contributed $2,700 to Ross Spano for Congress for the
primary election and $1,000 for the general election. See Fed. Election Comm’n, Individual contributions — Karen
Hunt, https://www.fec.gov/data/receipts/individual-

contributions/?two_year transaction_period=2018&committee_id=C00676668&contributor name=karen+hunt&mi
n_date=01%2F01%2F2017&max_date=12%2F31%2F2018 (last visited May 10, 2019).

19 Clerk of U.S. House of Representatives, Financial Disclosure Report — Vincent Ross Spano (2018) [hereinafter
“Spano 2018 Fin. Disclosure”], available at http://clerk. house.gov/public_disc/financial-pdfs/2018/10023479.pdf.

U See id.

12 See id.
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from Carreno, dated June 28, 2018; (2) a $75,000 loan from Carreno, dated October 29, 2018; (3)
a $35,000 loan from Hunt, dated August 9, 2018; and (4) a $35,000 loan from Hunt, dated October
29, 2018.13 The Letter is attached to this complaint as “Exhibit A.”

Both the Letter, and disclosure reports filed by the Committee with the FEC also confirm
that Rep. Spano loaned the Committee $174,500 in personal funds between May and October
2018." Included in this amount are $27,500 Spano loaned the Committee—just four days after
Carreno loaned Spano $35,000; and $70,000 Spano loaned the Committee—just two days after
Carreno and Hunt loaned Spano a combined $110,000.'

The 2018 Financial Disclosure states that Rep. Spano had earned $72,500 in income during
2018 from his tenure as a state representative in Florida and as president of his law firm, Spano &
Woody, P.A.'® Rep. Spano also reported $130,800 in earned income during 2017, from both jobs
and commission on an insurance contract.!” He reported assets and “unearned” income totaling no
less than $368,006 and no more than $845,000, inclusive of a self-valuation of his law firm
between $250,001 and $500,000.!% In addition to liabilities for the loans acquired from Carreno
and Hunt, Rep. Spano also reported a liability between $100,001 and $250,000 to a federal loan

servicer for student loan debt.!?

13 Letter from Elliot S. Berke, Atty. for Ross Spano for Congress, Vincent Ross Spano, Cary Carreno, & Karen
Hunt, to Jeff S. Jordan, Asst. Gen’l Counsel, Fed. Election Comm’n (Nov. 30, 2018) [hereinafter “Respondents’
Letter”] (attached as “Exhibit A”).

14 See id ; see also Fed. Election Comm’n, Receipts (conducting search for contributions by Vincent Ross Spano to
Ross Spano for Congress during the 2017-18 election cycle) [hereinafter “Spano Receipts 2017-187],
https://www.fec.gov/data/receipts/?two_year_transaction_period=2018&data_type=processed&committee_id=C006
76668&contributor name=Vincent+Spano&min_date=01%2F01%2F2017&max_date=12%2F31%2F2018 (last
visited May 8, 2019).

15 Respondents” Letter, supra note 13; Spano Receipts 2017-18, supra note 14.

16 Spano 2018 Fin. Disclosure, supra note 10.

17 Id

18 Id

19 Id



MUR762900005

The November 30, 2018 Letter stated that Rep. Spano expected that the personal loans
totaling $180,000 would “be repaid in full with interest by the close of the next week.”?° In January
2019, Rep. Spano’s office said that he repaid the personal loans “in full from the sale of [his] law
practice.”?! However, a month later, a spokesperson for the Committee explained that he “repaid
his two friends at the end of 2018 by taking out a bank loan.”?? On May 15, 2019, Rep. Spano filed
with the Clerk of the U.S. House of Representatives his 2019 financial disclosure report (“2019
Financial Disclosure™). In his 2019 Financial Disclosure, Rep. Spano reported a new liability
between $100,001 and $250,000 to Centerstate Bank, and reported that he repaid the money
Carreno and Hunt loaned him “in full with appropriate interest in December 2018.”23

The Letter further states that Respondents “now recognize that some of the proceeds from
the personal loans made to [] Spano and the personal loans he made to [his campaign] may have
been in violation of the Federal [Election Campaign] Act . . . and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.”** According to the Letter, Rep. Spano “believed he was acting in compliance with
the law” when he “took out the personal four loans and when [he] made the four loans to [his
campaign],” as did Carreno and Hunt when they purportedly executed promissory notes with

Spano.?’ The Letter also claims that Respondents “have taken several proactive steps to address

this matter, including but not limited to engaging [the attorney’s] law firm as counsel, terminating

20 Respondents’ Letter, supra note 13.

21 Samantha-Jo Roth, Rep. Spano Starts New Term Under Cloud of Questions, Spectrum News/News 13 (Jan. 4,
2019 5:52 PM), https://www.mynews13.com/fl/orlando/politics/2019/01/04/rep--spano-starts-new-term-under-
cloud-of-questions.

22 Steve Contorno, Ross Spano, facing investigation into 2018 campaign, files for re-election in 2020, Tampa Bay
Times (Feb. 8, 2019), https://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/buzz/2019/02/08/ross-spano-facing-investigation-
into-2018-campaign-files-for-re-election-in-2020/.

2 Clerk of U.S. House of Representatives, Financial Disclosure Report — Vincent Ross Spano (2019) [hereinafter
“Spano 2019 Fin. Disclosure”], available at http://clerk.house.gov/public_disc/financial-pdfs/2018/10027229.pdf.
24 Respondents’ Letter, supra note 13 (emphasis added and internal citations omitted).

25 Id

-5-
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prior accountancy, compliance, and relevant consultancy representations, and engaging new
accountancy, compliance, and consultancy representations.”?®

In December 2018, the Committee’s former treasurer—accountant Jamie Jodoin—denied
ever approving the use of “loan proceeds to fund the campaign.” She noted that she “was given
checks and the only information [she] received was [that] they were drawn from [Spano’s] personal
account.”?’

As of July 21, 2019, reports filed with the FEC during the 2017-18 and 2019-20 election
cycles show that the Committee has only repaid Rep. Spano $5,000 of the $174,500 in funds that
he loaned the Committee and the Committee has not repaid Carreno or Hunt directly at all.?® The
Committee has also not filed any paperwork disclosing a loan by a bank to Rep. Spano to be used

to refund the Committee’s excessive contributions.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Under federal law, a candidate may loan personal funds to their principal campaign
committee for the purpose of influencing their election to federal office.? Although such a loan

constitutes a contribution to the campaign subject to reporting requirements,*’ a federal candidate

26 Id

27 Id

28 See Fed. Election Comm’n, Disbursements (for the 2017-18 election cycle),
https://www.fec.gov/data/disbursements/?two_year_transaction_period=2018&data_type=processed&committee id
=C00676668&recipient_name=spano&min_date=01%2F01%2F2017&max_date=12%2F31%2F2018 (last visited
June 25, 2019); Fed. Election Comm’n, Disbursements (for the 2019-20 election cycle),
https://www.fec.gov/data/disbursements/?two_year_transaction_period=2020&data_type=processed&committee_id
=C00676668&recipient_name=spano&min_date=01%2F01%2F2019&max_date=12%2F31%2F2020 (last visited
June 25, 2019).

29 See 11 C.F.R. § 110.10. A “personal loan” refers to “a loan or loans, including advances, made by a candidate,
using personal funds . . . to his or her authorized committee where the proceeds of the loan were used in connection
with the candidate’s campaign for election.” Id. § 116.11(a). In turn, the campaign may repay to the candidate
personal loans of up to $250,000—using contributions to the candidate or the campaign at any time before, on, or
after Election Day—so long as the campaign used the loan proceeds in connection with the candidate’s campaign for
election. See id. § 116.12(a).

30 See id. §§ 104.3(a)(3)(vii), 104.3(a)(4)(iv).
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may nonetheless contribute unlimited personal funds to their campaign.’! That being said, if
another individual directly loans a candidate money for the purpose of influencing the candidate’s
election to federal office, the loan does not become part of the candidate’s personal funds. Rather,
such a loan constitutes a contribution by the individual to the candidate’s campaign committee,
subject to contribution limits, source restrictions, and reporting requirements under FECA and
FEC regulations.’? During the 2017-18 cycle, a person could only contribute $2,700 per primary
election, and $2,700 per general election, to a single candidate for federal office.*

Federal law clearly states how to handle excessive or other impermissible contributions
that are discovered after they have been accepted and deposited in a committee’s account.
Specifically, a campaign committee’s treasurer is “responsible for examining all contributions
received for evidence of illegality” and for determining whether aggregate contributions from the
same contributor exceed federal limits or violate source prohibitions imposed under federal law.>*
If a treasurer determines—when the committee receives and deposits a contribution—that it does
not appear to violate federal contribution limits and source prohibitions, but “later discovers that
it is illegal based on new evidence not available to the [| committee at the time of receipt and
deposit,” the treasurer must refund the contribution to the contributor (if their identity is known)

no later than thirty (30) days after discovering its illegality.®> If the contributor’s identity is

31 1d. § 110.10; see also Fed. Election Comm’n, Advisory Op. 2010-15 (Pike for Congress) (“Candidates for Federal
office may make unlimited expenditures from their personal funds . . . [which] [t]he Commission has interpreted . . .
to mean that a candidate may also make unlimited contributions to his or her authorized committee.”).

32 See 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.52, 101.2(a), 102.7(d); see also Fed. Election Comm’n, Advisory Op. 1985-33 (Collins)
(“The Act and Commission regulations . . . specifically provide that when a candidate receives a loan for use in
connection with her campaign, the candidate receives such a loan as an agent of her authorized committee or
committees.”).

33 Fed. Election Comm’n, Contribution limits for 2017-2018 (Feb. 16, 2017),
https://www.fec.gov/updates/contribution-limits-2017-2018/.

3 1d. §103.3(b).

35 Id. § 103.3(b)(2). Note that “if the political committee does not have sufficient funds to refund the contribution at
the time the illegality is discovered, the political committee shall make the refund from the next funds it receives.”
Id

-7-
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unknown, then the campaign committee must disgorge the funds to the U.S. Department of
Treasury, disclosing the disgorgement in accordance with FEC reporting requirements.*®

Here, as reported on the 2018 Financial Disclosure and admitted in the Letter, Rep. Spano’s
personal friends Cary Carreno and Karen Hunt ‘loaned’ him $180,000 during the 2017-18 cycle
which Rep. Spano appears to have used to ‘personally loan’ his campaign tens of thousands of
dollars at a time, totaling $174,500 during the 2017-18 cycle.’” Carreno and Hunt also contributed
thousands of dollars to the Committee.

Respondents’ admission of a potential violation of law—and the nature and timeline of
events—strongly indicate that Rep. Spano accepted contributions masked as ‘personal loans’ to
him, which he then used to loan to the Committee. Such a scheme, if true, would allow the
Respondents to circumvent well-established contribution limits and source restrictions that apply
under federal law, as a means of influencing Rep. Spano’s election for federal office. Rep. Spano’s
admission of a potential violation suggests that he accepted these ‘personal loans’ with an intent
to influence his election to Congress, which means they could not be legally considered part of
Spano’s personal funds that he could have used without limit to contribute to the Committee.>

The Committee’s former treasurer claims she was unaware that Rep. Spano’s loans to the
Committee were derived from money his friends loaned him. However, the Respondents belatedly
admitted to the FEC that they “now recognize that some of the proceeds from the personal loans
made to Spano and the personal loans he made to [his campaign] may have been in violation” of

federal law and regulations.*’ By admitting to a potential violation of FECA and FEC regulations,

36 See Fed. Election Comm’n, How fo Report Disgorged Contributions, https://www.fec.gov/help-candidates-and-
committees/filing-reports/disgorged-contributions/ (last visited May 8, 2019).

37 See Spano Receipts 2017-18, supra note 14.

38 See supranotes 7, 9.

3 See supra note 32.

40 Respondents’ Letter, supra note 13.
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the Respondents have effectively confessed to the acceptance of illegal contributions under federal
law and triggered the requirement to refund those contributions to the original donors (here,
Carreno and Hunt) within 30 days.*! Yet, as of this writing, the Committee has not refunded either
donor any of their excessive contribution and all but $5,000 of the money Rep. Spano loaned his
campaign remains in the Committee’s account.*?

It is unclear but Rep. Spano may be taking the position that the Committee did not need to
refund Carreno and Hunt because he repaid them using funds from a loan he received from
Centerstate Bank in December 2018.43 However, the Committee’s obligation under the law is
clear: it must refund Carreno and Hunt. In order to use a bank loan obtained by Rep. Spano to
finance that refund, the Committee is required to disclose information about the loan on Schedule
C-1 in the report, covering the period when the loan was obtained.** The report must also disclose
(1) the date, amount, and interest rate of the loan; (2) the name and address of the lender; and (3)
the types and value of the collateral or other sources of repayment securing the loan.** Such
paperwork and information has not been filed with the FEC as of mid-July 2019. Thus, there is no
apparent connection between the personal loan that Rep. Spano says he took out and then paid to
Carreno and Hunt the Committee.

In essence, the Committee appears to have accepted $174,500 in illegal, excessive
contributions from Carreno and Hunt, acknowledged it did so in a letter sent to the FEC last

November, and yet still has not disgorged the contributions as required under federal law, despite

the Letter’s duplicitous insinuation that the Respondents somehow innocently violated this very

4111 C.F.R. § 103.3(b)(2).

42 See supra note 28. The campaign committee refunded the $5,000 to Rep. Spano back in July 2018, months before
the Respondents admitted to this potential violation. See id.

43 See Spano 2019 Fin. Disclosure, supra note 23; Contorno, supra note 22.

411 C.FR. § 104.3(d)(4).

45 Id
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clear law and actively took steps to rectify it months ago. The Letter considers the admission of a
violation of federal law—and so-called “proactive steps” taken since to address the matter—
sufficient to mitigate any sanctions the FEC might levy against the Respondents.*® But by
admitting to a potential violation of federal law, and subsequently failing to disgorge such
excessive contributions, the Respondents have effectively fesponded to their original potential
violation by apparently violating another federal law.
III. REQUESTED ACTION

As explained above, the Respondents appear to have violated federal law by masking
contributions well in excess of federal limits as ‘personal loans’ from Rep. Spano to the
Committee. This scheme allowed the Respondents to avoid the contribution limits and reporting
requirements that apply under FECA and FEC regulations. And despite the Respondents’
admission of a potential violation of federal law, the Committee has appeared to have failed to
refund the original donors, Carreno and Hunt, as required by law. We respectfully request that this
Commission immediately investigate these apparent violations and that Respondents be enjoined
from further violations and be fined the maximum amount permitted by law.

incerely,

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this > day of August, 2019.
Lt 42 W

h@y Public i

e KYLA CASTLEBERRY
, fransi Notary Public - State of Florida
o - ,,‘:_i’g,‘?dg Commission # GG 349770

My Commission Expires: R My Comm. Expires Jun 30, 2023

:);}'?Q :5@ 2 2@&%

46 Respondents’ Letter, supra note 13.
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Berke | Farah 1rp

Attorneys at Law

1200 New Hampshire Ave. NW @ Suite 800 ® Washington, DC 20036 @ cherke@berkefarah.com ® 202.517.058.5
winw.berkeliranh.com

November 30, 2018

Jelf S, Jordan, Esq.
Assistant General Counsel
Complaints Examination &
Legal Admunistration
Olfice of General Counscl
Federal Election Conmmission
1050 First Street, NE
Washington, DC 20002

Re:  Sua Sponte Submission of Ross Spano for Congress, Ross Spano, Cary Camreno
and Karen Hunt

Dear Mr. Jordan,

This letter is submitted by the undersigned counsel on behall of Ross Spano for Congress
(Comunittee), Ross Spano, Cary Carreno, and Karen Hunt pursuant 1o the Federal Election
Commission (Commission) Statement of Policy Regarding Seli-Reporting of Campaign Finance
Violations (Sua Sponte Submissions). Notice 2007-8, Ross Spano for Congress is the principal
campaign commitlee of Representative-Elect Ross Spano. We also include Ross Spano, Cary
Carreno, and Karen Hunt in their individual capacities as respondents for the sake ol

compleleness.

During Representative-Elect Spano’s campaign lor Congress lor Florida’s 15" congressional

district, he took out four personal loans (enclosed). The details of the personal loans were as

[ollows:
Date Source Amount
6/28/18 Cary Carreno $35,000.00
8/9/18 Karen Hunt $35,000.00

Navigating the Law of Politics

9/30/18 Karen Hunt $35,000.00
10/29/18 Caury Carreno $75,000.00'

All four of the personal loans carried a five percent (59) per annum interest rate. Representative-
Llect Spano reported these loans on his Financial Disclosure Report filed with the Clerk ol the
House of Representative and the Comumission on November 3, 2018, Representative-Llect Spano

expects those personal loans to be repaid in full with interest by the close of next week.
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All four of the personal loans carried a five percent (5%) per annum imterest rate. Representative-
Flecl Spano reported these loans on his Financial Disclosure Report filed with the Clerk of the
Housce of Representative and the Commission on November 3, 2018. Representative-Elect Spano

expects those personal loans to be repaid in full with interest by the close ol next week.

Representative-Elect Spano made the following loans to the Committee from his personal

funds as was reported on reponts filed with the Commussion:

Date Source Amount

5/3/18 Personal Funds $10,000.00
6/30/18 Personal Funds $27,500.00
8/8/18 Personal Funds $32,000,00
9/30/18 Personal Funds $27,500.00
10/29/18 Personal Funds $70,000.00

When Representative-Elect Spano took oul the personal lour loans and when
Representative-Elect Spano made the four loans to the Committee, he believed he was acting in
full compliance with the law - as did Mr. Carreno and Ms. Hunt when they entered the
promissory notes with him - based on the consultations they had at the time. Respondents now
recognize that some of the proceeds from the personal loans made to Representative-Lleet Spano
and the personal loans he made to the Committee may have been in violation of the Federal

Campaign Finance Act, 52 U.S.C. § 30101 ¢t seq., and the regulations promulgated thercunder.

Upon such recognition, the respondents have taken several proactive steps to address this
matter, including but not limited 1o engaging our {itm as counsel, terminating prior accountancy,
compliance, and relevant consultancy representations, and engaging new iiccountancy, compliance,

and consultancy representations.

In liling this sua sponte submission with the Commission (oday, the respondents seck the
advice and recommendations [rom it to fully address this matter and adopt additional corrective
measure.

' The Promissory Note dated 10729/18 contained draltsnn’s envor listing the Joan amount as *Thivty-Five Thousand
Daollars.”  The parties imended and agree the loim aimounnt was 87.5,000.00

Iy

Thank you for vour consideration, and we look forward to discussing this matter in lurther

detail with the Ollice of General Counsel.

Verv truly yours,

nAS Bdea

Elliot 8. Berke

LEnclosures
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$35,000.00 Location: Riverview, Floride
Effective Date: June 28, 2014

FOR VALLE RECEIVED, the undersigned ("Maker™) promises wo pay 1o the ardes of
Cary Carremo, an individual ("Holder”). the principal sum of Thiny-Five Thousand Dollers
($35,000.00). The rights, claims, duties and liabilities of the parties hereto wre subject to and
controlled by the following serms and conditions:

. Indebtedness and Repayvment

Hodder has agreed 1o lend Maker a total of Thirty-Five Thousand Dollors (335,000.00)
puyable in monthly instaliments, with intcrest m Five Percont (5%) per annum, of One Thousand
Dollars (31,000.00), the first payment to b made on Jsensary |, 2019 md conlining thereafter
until the Note and applicable interest is paid in fall

2 Method sed Place of Payment

Payments of principal and imterest shall be made in lawful money of the United States of
America sl the principal address of the Holder ns specified below, or & suck ather location as she
may hereafter designmte.

3 Prepaoment

Maker shall have the privilege and option, without penalty or forfeitare, 10 pay the entire
principal amcunt of this Note or sny paet thereol, al any time prior %0 the Msturity Diste

4 Waiver.

Holder shall not be deemed by any act or cenission 10 bave waived any right or remedy
hercundor wnless and only $0 the extent expressed in a writben instrument dated subsequent 1o the
dnte hereof and executed by Holder, and any such waiver so expressed with respect o #
particslar event shall nat be inserpreted as having & conlinging effect on or us & waiver of any
right or remsedy with respect to sy subsaquent event.

5. Naotiges.

Al nntices or other communicslions required or permitted 1o be given pursuant o this
Note shall be in writing and shall be considered properly given or made if hand delivered or
maibed via centified mail or sent by trackable overnight delivery service.

6. Entie Agreement.

This Note and any other document expressly ideniified herein constimue the entire
understanding of the parties with respect W the subject matter hereof, and no amendment,
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maodification or slleralion of the tems hereof shall be binding unless the same be in writing.
doisd subsequent in the dote hereof and duly appeoved and executed by Maker and Holder.

1. Assigament.

Neither party may seil. transfer or assaga the Note or an)y related koan documents tc a
third party without the express writien consent of the other party.

8. Coverning Law and Yemue

This Note, and the application or interpeetation thereof, shall be governad exclusivedy by
its senns and by the laws of the Swate of Florida, without regand 1o coaflicts-of-laws principles.
Yenue for ull purposes shall be deemed o lie exchusively within Hillsbarough County, Florida.
The panties irrevocably (a} submit w the exchsive jursdicon of the Circut Cowrt of
Hillsborough County, Floridn for the purpise of sy suit, action, or other proceeding arising oul
of this Note, or any of the sgreements or fransactions contemplated horeby (each, a
“Proceeding™). (b} agree that all claims in respect of any Proceeding shall be heard and
determined m any sech cosnt, (¢) weive, 0 the fulbest extomt permilted by lew, sy dght (o
challonge the exclusive jurisdiction of any sach court or from any legal process therein, (d) agree
nat 80 commence any Proceading other than in such courts, and (¢) waive, 1o the fullest extent
permimed by lmw, any cloime th such Proceoding is brought in an incomvenient forum,

9. Miseellansous
Na invalidity or upenforceabiliny of any provesion of thes Note shall affecs in vy way the

validity or enforcesbility of the remaining obligatsons or pontions hereof or of the Purchuse
Agreement. Time is the essenoe of this Note.

9. Allorney Fuees

If the Holder of ehis Note s roquired to retain the services of sn siomey 1o eaforce the
provision of this Note or collect upon the Note. Muker agrees Usat Hodder may seok
reimbuarseiment of all attomey Sees and related coses made necessary 1o enforce the Nowe's terms.

™N WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Maker bas exocuted this Note as of the daie first
writien shove. o

w —
g . 7 e
~f=""="
V Roas 1
Maker tpn I
Cary Cﬂ
Holder
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£35.000.00 Location: Rivenveew, Florida
Effoclive Dute: August 9, 2018

FOR VALUE RECEIVED. the undersigned (“Maker™) promises to pay o the arder of
Karen Hust, an mdividual (“Holder”), the principal sum of Tharmy-Five Thousand Dollars
(335.000.00). The nights, claims, dulics and liabilities of the pemies hereso are subject 1o and
controlled by the following terms and conditions

I Indebtedness and Repavment

Hodder has agreed w lend Maker a tnta) of Thrty-Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000.004,
puyable in monthly installments, with interest at Five Percent (5%) per annam, of One Thossand
Dollars (31,000.00), the first payment 1o be made on Jamuary §, 2019 and contining thereafter
until the Nate and applicabble misrest is paid in full.

2 Method and Place of Paymunt

Payments of princapal and interest shall be made in lawful money of the Unsied States of
America a the principal sddress of the Holder as specified below, or at such uthes location as she
may hereafter dessgnate.

3 Prepayioent.

Maker shall have the privilepe and option. without penalty or forfeiture, 1o pay the entire
principel amount of thas Note or any part thereol, s any time prior to the Matunity Date.

L Wiaiver.

Holder shall not be deemed by any act or omistion w0 have waived mny right or remedy
hereunder unless and only 10 the extent expressed in a written instrament dated subsegquery; 1o tlw
daic hereof amd execued by Holder, and any sach waiver so expressed wwth respect 10 a
particular event shal) not be interpreted as having a continuing effect on or a3 & waiver of my
right or remedy with respect © any subsogquent event.

5. Notipes.

All notices ar other commamications required or permatied o be given pursuant o this
Note shall be in writing and shall be considered pruperly given oc made if hand deliveredt or
mailed via certified mail or sem by trackable overnight delivery seovice.

6 Entirg Agreement

Thas Note and amy other document eapressly identified heresn constitiie the enlire
understinding of the parties with respect 10 the subject matter hercof. and mo amendment,
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modification or alteration of the terms hereof shall be bisding unless the same be i writing,
dmted subseguent to the date hereof and duly approved and executed by Maker snd Holder,

7. Asmsignmen,

Nefther party may sell. transfer or assign the Note or any refuted loan documents 0 a
third purty without the express writien consent of the other perty.

8.  Guwerning Law und Venue.

This Note, and the applicatioa or Interpretation thereof, shall be govemed exclusively by
its terms and by the laws of the Siste of Flurida, without regard to canflicts-of-laws principles.
Venue for all purpases shall be deemed to lie exclusively within Hiblsborough County, Florida.
The parties irrevocably (a) submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Circuit Cowst of
Hallsborough County, Florida for the purpose of ony muit, sction, ar other proceeding arising out
of this Note, or any of the ogreements or tramsactions contemplated hereby (each, s
“Proceeding™), (b) agree that all claims in respect of any Proceeding shall be heard and
determined i may such coun, (c) walve, 80 the fullest exient permitted by law, any right 1o
challenge the enclusive jurisdiction of any such court or from amy legal process therein, (d) agree
not 90 commence any Proceeding other than In such courts, sexd (¢) waive, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, any claim that such Proceeding is brought in an incomvenient forum.

9.  Mixellapsous

No swalidity or unenforceability of any provisson of this Nots shall affect in sny way the
validity or enforceability of the remaining obligstions or portions hereof or of the Purchase
Agreement. Time is the essence of this Nots.

9. Atpeney Focs

If e Holder of this Nose {5 required (o retain the services of an alormey 1o enficoe the
provision of this Note or collect upon the Note, Maker agrees thm Holder may seek
reimbursement of all stiormey fees and reluted costs made necessary 1o enforce the Note's terms

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Maker s executed this Note as of the date firm
Writlen sbove.
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EROMISSORY NOTE

$35,000.00 Location: Riverview, Floridn
Effective Daie: September 30, 2018

FOR VALUE RECEIVED., the undersigned (“Maker™) promises to pay %o the ander of
Karen Hust, an individual (“Holder™), the principal sum of Thirty-Five Thousand Doltars
($35,000.00). The rights, clsims, duties and Imbélities of the parties heretd are subject to and
controlied by the following terms and conditicns:

I Indebiedness and Repavment

Haolder has sagreed to knd Maker a total of Thinty-Five Thoussad Dollars (335,000.00),
payuble in monthly instaliments, with imserest ot Five Percent (596) per annum, of One Thousand
Dollses ($1,000.00), the first payment to be made on Janusry 1, 2019 and contining thercafter
until the Note and applicabls Interest is paad in full,

2. Method and Place of Payment

Payments of principal and incerest shall be made in lowfisl money of the Laited Staes of
America ot the principal address of the Holder as specified below, or & such other locatson as she
may hereafter designate.

3. DPrepament

Maker shall have the privilege and option, without pensity or forfeitare, to pay the entire
principal amount of this Note or amy part thereof, m sy time prior to the Matueity Date,

4 Waiver.

Holder shall not be deemed by any 8¢t or omission o have waived any ngn or remedy
hereunder wless and anly to the extent expressed in 2 written imstrument dated subsequent to the
de hereof and executed by Holder, and any such walver 40 expressed with respect © a
particudar evenl shall not be interpretad as having a continuing effect on or as a waiver of any
right or remedy with respect to any subsequent event.

5.  Negices

All notices or other communications required or permitied to be given pursuam to this
Naote shall be in writing and shall be considerad properly given or made if hand delivered or
mailed via certifisd mail or sent by tackeble overnigit delivery service.

6. Entiee Agtwernent

This Note and any other document capressly idemtified herein constinse the entire
undenstanding of the parties with respect to the mubject matter heyeof, and ro amendment,
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modification or alteration of the terms hereof shall be binding unless the same be n writing,
dsted subsequent to the date hereof and duly approved and executed by Maker snd Holder.

7 Assignmeni.

Neither party may seli, transfer or sssign e Note or any reluted loan documenis so »
thard party without the express writien consent of the other party.

8. Governing Law and Venue.

This Note, and the application or interpretation thereof, shall be govemed exclusively by
#ts terms and by the laws of the Stme of Floride, without regard to oanflicts-ofdaws principles.
Venue for sll purposes shall be deemed to lie exclusively withia Hillsbosough County, Florida.
The parties irrevocably (a) submit o the exclusive jurisdiction of the Circut Cowt of
Hillsbocough County, Flarida for the purpose of mny sait, action, or other proceeding arising ot
of this Note, or any of the sgreememss o tramsactions contemplated hereby (esch, a
“Proceeding”), (b) agree that alf claims in respect of sny Procseding shall be hesrd and
determined m mmy such court, (c) waive, ®0 the fullest extent permitted by law, any right 10
chalienge the enclusive jurisdiction of any such court or from sy legal process therem, (d) agree
ot 10 commence any Proceeding other than In such couns, sed (¢) waive, to the fullest exiem
permitted by law, any claim that such Proceeding is brought in an incomvenient forum.

9. Miscellansous
No mvalidity or unenforcenbility of any provissan of this Nots shall affiect in mny wary the

validity or enforceability of the remaining obligations or portions hereof or of the Purchase
Agreement. Time is the essence of this Nots.

9. Atceney Fecs

If the Holder of this Note is required so retain the services of an alfomey lo eaforoe the
provisivn of this Nate or collect upon the Note, Maker agrees that Holder may seck
reimdursement of all stiorney fees and relmad costs made necessary to endorce the Note'™s wrms

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Maker has executed this Note as of the dme firs

wrillen shave. U
S IR o
V. Roas "y
Muoker =
4 -J—J—-’)i
/'l .

/c'—;';"f;.- Lols N
Karen Hunt ‘»‘7
Holder ' ¢
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$75.000.00 Location; Riverview, Florida
Effective Dute: Ocsober 29, 2018

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned ("Maker™) promises o pay (o the ander of
Cary Carremo, an individual (“Holder™), the principal sum of Thirty-Five Thousand Dodlars
($75,000.00). The rights, claims, duties and liabilities of the parties hereto are subjoct W and
ocomtrolled by the following terms and conditions:

I Indebtedness snd Repayment

Hodder has agreed to lend Maker a wotal of Thisty-Frve Thousand Dollurs ($35,000.00),

an monthly instaliments, with interest at Five Percent (5%) per anmum, of One Thousand

Dollars ($1,000.00), the flrst payment 10 be made on January 1, 2019 md coniming thereslter
until the Note and upplicable imterest is paid = full.

2 Mahod sed Place of Paymen,

Paxyments of principal and interest shall be made i lzwful money of the United States of
America o the principal address of the Holder as specified below, or & such ather location as she
may hereafter designase.

¥ Prupayment.

Maker shall have the privilege and option, withow penalty or forfeituee, 10 pay the entire
principal amount of this Note oc smry part thereod, it sy time prior o the Maturity Dite

4. Waiver.

Hokder shall not be deemed by any act or omission 10 have wuived any right or remady
hereunder unless and only o the extent expressed in a written instrument dated subsequent to the
date hereof and executed by Holder, and any such waiver so expressed with respect to »
particulur event shall not be imserpreted &8 baving 8 continuing effect on or 93 8 waiver of any
right or remedy with respect 1o any subsequent evem.

5. Notices.

All notces or other communications required or permitted bo be given pursuant to this
Note shall be in writing and shall be considered property given ar made if hand delivered ar
mailed via certified mail ar sent by trackable overnight dolivery service.

6.  Entire Agreemenl.

This Nate and amy ather document expeessly idemtified hereln constriule the entwe
wndersianding of the parties with respect 10 the subject matter bereof, and no smendment,
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modification or alleration of the terms hereof shall be banding unless the same be m writing,
dated subsequent to the date hereof and duly approved and excoused by Maker and Holder,

2 Assignment,

Neithor party may sell, transfer or assiga the Note or any reimted loan docaments 10 &
thisd party without che expreas writien conecnt of the other puety.

8 Coverning Law and Yeoue

This Note, snd the application or interpeetation thercof, shall be governed exclusively by
its terms and by the laws of the Stale of Florida, without regand to conflicts-of-laws principles.
Venue for all purposes shall be deemed 0 lie exclusively within Hillsborough County, Flonda
The parties irevocably (a) ssbemit 10 the exchusive jurisdictson of the Circuh Count of
Hillsborough County, Florida for the purpase of amy sust, action, or ofher proceeding srsing oot
of this Note, or any of the agreements or transactions oontemplated bereby {ench, a
“Procesding’’), (b} agree tha ali claims in respect of any Pracceding shall be hoard and
dosermined in any such cowt, {c) waive, o the fullest extemt permitted by law, any right to
challenge the exchasive jurisdiction of any sach court or froen may legal process therein, {d) agree
not to commence any Proceeding other than in such courts, snd {c) waive, 10 the fullest extem
permitied by law, any claim thi such Proceeding is brought in an inconveniont forurm

9. Miscellaneous.
No invalidity or unenforcesbility of any provision of this Nose shall affect in any way the

valldity or enforcesbility of the remsining obligations or partions hereof or of the Purchase
Agreement. Time is the cssenoe of this Node.

e Allweney Fogs

If the Holder of tils Nake is roguired 10 relain the servives of an stioensy W enforce e
provision of this Note or collect upon the Note. Muoker agrees that ldoldor may seek
reimnbursement of all miomey fees and redated coses made necessary (o enfarce the Noie's teaws.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Muker has exocutcd this Note as of the dae first

written sbove.
~=:’ —
_‘_ ——
V. Rms no

Maker

CM‘\(/M

CaryC
Halder






